ELSEVIER

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/neubiorev



Review

Eating disorders, gene-environment interactions and epigenetics

Iain C. Campbell a,*, Jonathan Mill b, Rudolf Uher b, Ulrike Schmidt a

- ^a Section of Eating Disorders, King's College London, Institute of Psychiatry, London SE5 8AF, UK
- ^b Social, Genetic and Developmental Psychiatry, King's College London, Institute of Psychiatry, London SE5 8AF, UK

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 13 April 2010 Received in revised form 6 August 2010 Accepted 22 September 2010

Keywords:
Eating disorders
Risk factors
Epigenetics
Genes
Environment
Gene-environment interactions (GxE)
Development

ABSTRACT

This review describes the various subtypes of eating disorders and examines factors associated with the risk of illness. It considers evidence that the development and maintenance of eating disorders is due to gene–environment interactions (GxE) that alter genetic expression via epigenetic processes. It describes how environmental factors such as those associated with nutrition and/or stress may cause epigenetic changes which have transcriptional and phenotypic effects, which, in turn, alter the long term risk of developing an eating disorder. It reviews theoretical and practical issues associated with epigenetic studies in psychiatry and how these are relevant to eating disorders. It examines the limited number of epigenetic studies which have been conducted in eating disorders and suggests directions for further research. Understanding the relationship between epigenetic processes and the risk of an eating disorder opens possibilities for preventive and/or therapeutic interventions. For example, epigenetic changes associated with diet and weight may be reversible and those associated with cognitive processes may be accessible to pharmacological interventions.

© 2010 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

	Eating disorders	
2.	Epigenetics	785
3.	Do epigenetic modifications mediate the effects of stress in pregnancy and/or perinatal complications on the risk	
	of eating disorder in the offspring?	786
4.	Does nutrition in pregnancy alter the risk of an eating disorder in the offspring via epigenetic processes?	786
5.	Candidate genes for epigenetic studies in eating disorders	787
6.	Epigenetic changes associated with psychological processes: implications for eating disorders	788
	Epigenetic research and eating disorders	
8.	Conclusions	789
	Conflict of interest	
	Acknowledgements	
	References	790

1. Eating disorders

Eating disorders (ED) encompass anorexia nervosa (AN), bulimia nervosa (BN), eating disorder not otherwise specified (EDNOS) and binge eating disorder (BED). Anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa typically affect young women and have a peripubertal onset: binge eating disorder occurs in both sexes and has a more varied onset (Hudson and Pope, Jr., 2007). Obesity is not classified as an eating

E-mail address: Iain.Campbell@kcl.ac.uk (I.C. Campbell).

disorder, but as eating disorders and obesity can occur simultaneously or sequentially in the same person and share some common risk factors, we have (when relevant) considered obesity-related issues

Anorexia nervosa has existed for centuries and across cultures. In historical and non-Western cases, 'inappetence' and 'inability to eat' or ascetic/religious ideals have been used to justify food restriction, however in most cases of anorexia nervosa, concerns about weight and shape constitute the core psychopathology (Keel and Klump, 2003). Bulimia nervosa appears to be a 20th century Western phenomenon (Russell, 1979). Binge eating disorder was included in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders IV (DSM-IV) (1994) appendix as "deserving further study"

^{*} Corresponding author at: P.O. Box 59, Institute of Psychiatry, De Crespigny Park, London SE5 8AF, UK. Tel.: +44 207 848 0564.

(Spitzer et al., 1992, 1993). The majority of eating disorders are "eating disorders not otherwise" specified (EDNOS) as they do not fit into these diagnostic groups (Ngai et al., 2000; Wonderlich et al., 2007). Diagnostic issues are compounded by pathoplasticity in eating disorders. Thus, the incidence and prevalence of anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa is stabilising in Western countries (Currin et al., 2005), whereas eating disorders not otherwise specified and binge eating disorder continue to increase, as does the combination of eating disorders and obesity (Darby et al., 2009; Hay et al., 2008; Pavlova et al., 2010). This pathoplasticity might arise from different gene environment (GXE) interactions which, as described below, may be associated with epigenetic processes.

Over 30 risk factors for anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa have been identified (Jacobi et al., 2004). For anorexia nervosa, these include obstetric complications, childhood feeding and sleeping problems, high levels of physical exercise, overanxious parenting, obsessive compulsive personality (OCP) traits, perfectionism and negative affect/self-evaluation (Pike et al., 2008). For bulimia nervosa, these include obstetric complications, dieting, childhood and parental obesity, alcoholism, pubertal timing, sexual abuse and negative self-evaluation (Fairburn et al., 1997). For binge eating disorder, these include childhood obesity, family overeating/binge-eating, high parental demands, negative affect, parental mood and substance misuse disorders, perfectionism, separation from parents, and maternal problems with parenting (Striegel-Moore et al., 2005). There are also overlapping and distinct environmental and developmental risk factors for different types of eating disorders and for obesity (Hebebrand et al., 2003; Keith et al., 2006; Stice, 2002). Shared risk factors for eating disorders and obesity include dieting, media exposure, body image dissatisfaction and weight-related teasing (Haines and Neumark-Sztainer, 2006), negative affect (Stice et al., 2005) and psychosocial stress (Bornstein et al., 2006; Connan et al., 2007a,b; Schmidt et al., 1997; Striegel-Moore and Bulik, 2007). Overall therefore, early environment contributes many of the risk factors and the others are related to personality traits and affect.

Part of the risk of developing an eating disorder (and obesity) is inherited (Bulik et al., 2007a; Dai et al., 2008). Studies have implicated genes involved in weight regulation, eating behaviour, neuropsychological profiles, mood, neurodevelopment and stress responsivity (Monteleone and Maj, 2008; Volkow and Wise, 2005). However, effect sizes are typically small and there are few replicated findings. Furthermore, many studies are underpowered and negative or inconsistent findings may have occurred because of the limits of genetic technology, epistasis and heterogeneity in phenotypes. They may also have arisen because of the presence of GxE. In obesity, studies have implicated in excess of 100 genes, most of small effect (Hebebrand et al., 2010; Korner et al., 2008; Rankinen et al., 2006) for example, FTO (fat mass and obesity associated) (Fawcett and Barroso, 2010; Scuteri et al., 2007). At this point however, little is known about GxE (Caspi and Moffitt, 2006) in either eating disorders (de Castro, 2004; Mazzeo and Bulik, 2009) or in obesity (Yang et al., 2007) but, as described below, GxE (Andreasen and Andersen, 2009) and associated epigenetic processes (Rankinen et al., 2006) have been proposed to have an important role. The importance of GxE is also of note because, any genetic variant that is directly associated with the risk of a disorder that is associated with decreased fertility, for example, anorexia nervosa, would be under substantial evolutionary pressure through negative selection and would disappear from the genetic pool within relatively few generations (Uher, 2009). Therefore, accumulation of relatively rare genetic changes of recent origin and/or GxE with environmentally induced epigenetic changes, are more likely to underlie the heritability of disorders such as anorexia nervosa. Identification of such environmentally induced epigenetic changes will provide mechanisms that can be used to investigate the relative role of physiological/psychological factors in the development and the maintenance of these disorders. Epigenetic studies will also provide a way of examining biological processes underpinning psychological changes, for example, the behaviours that are learned during the development of illness and which are modified during maintenance and treatment.

2. Epigenetics

Epigenetic mechanisms regulate gene expression independently of DNA sequence. In most, but not all cases, they produce reversible changes in gene function by modifying DNA and associated histones and via the action of small non-coding RNA molecules (Dulac, 2010). Aberrant epigenetic processes have been linked to the aetiology of cancer (Baylin and Schuebel, 2007; Duman and Newton, 2007; Tsankova et al., 2007) but are also likely to contribute to the aetiology of numerous non-malignant complex disease phenotypes (Mariman, 2008; Mill and Petronis, 2008; Petronis, 2010; Stuffrein-Roberts et al., 2008).

The best understood and most stable epigenetic modification is DNA methylation on the cytosine pyrimidine ring (Lister et al., 2009a). Most commonly, this occurs where there are 5'-CpG-3' dinucleotides ("islands") This disrupts binding of transcription factors and attracts methyl-binding proteins associated with gene silencing and chromatin compaction: aberrant methylation can induce silencing of tumour suppressor genes and contribute to tumour development (Feinberg, 2008). Short stretches of DNA relatively rich in CpG islands often occur close to transcription site. Methylation at these CpG islands reduces the availability of these sites for transcription initiation. Histone modification, the other major epigenetic mechanism regulating gene expression, affects chromatin structure via reversible methylation, phosphorylation and acetylation of lysine residues (Roth and Sweatt, 2009). Histone modifications are being examined as dynamic regulatory processes involved in tumour development, in biological responses to stressors and in many other instances where there is inducible gene expression. A third epigenetic system involves small interfering RNA (siRNA) that suppress the activity of specific genes via RNA interference (RNAi), a process likely to be integral to developmental gene expression (Hamilton et al., 2002).

Epigenetic changes in DNA or associated histones coordinate gene expression during development: the processes are not mutually exclusive and may be antagonistic (Zilberman, 2008). Epigenetic modifications are dynamic especially prenatally and early postpartum (Waterland and Michels, 2007). These epigenetically sensitive developmental periods are relevant to perinatal and early developmental factors associated with the risk of eating disorders (and obesity). Metastable epialleles are loci that can be epigenetically modified to produce a range of phenotypes from genetically identical cells. Importantly, many are environmentally-sensitive, for example to maternal stress, behaviour and diet, and thus may alter the risk of developing an eating disorder. In some cases, such changes might also occur throughout life as epigenetic differences between monozygotic (MZ) twins accumulate with age. This epigenetic drift may explain why monozygotic twins are often discordant for eating disorders. Peripubertal epigenetic changes might increase the risk of an eating disorder in women compared to men as sex hormones alter DNA methylation at specific loci (Saluz et al., 1986; Yokomori et al., 1995), and in this way, control specific gene expression. The maintenance of an eating disorder could be due to epigenetic changes that allow individuals to escape physiological processes underpinning appetite and weight regulation or alternatively, contribute to the urge to binge. In the context of eating disorders and obesity, it is of note that fat cells show altered DNA methylation/gene expression in response to calorie restriction (Bouchard et al., 2010).

Some epigenetic marks may not be erased during meiosis (Rakyan et al., 2002) and meiotic transmission of epigenetic alleles, ("soft inheritance"), may be common (Champagne, 2008; Lim and Ferguson-Smith, 2010; Richards, 2006). This provides another mechanism for transgenerational information transfer and suggests that insults might alter the phenotype and disease risk in subsequent generations. Data from the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children (ALSPAC) cohort have shown that early paternal smoking is associated with a higher body mass index (BMI) in their male offspring (Kaati et al., 2007). Furthermore, grandchildren of pregnant women exposed to the 1944/45 Dutch Famine, had reduced birth weights, independent of their mothers' birth weight (Painter et al., 2008a,b; Stein et al., 2006). It is possible that epigenetic processes underlie at least some of the effects of intergenerational lifestyle changes on psychiatric morbidity. In a similar way, nutritional effects in utero could contribute to vulnerability to an eating disorder in subsequent generations.

The potential contribution of early epigenetic changes to the lifetime risk of illness is supported by data often summarised in the developmental origins of disease (DOHaD) hypothesis. This posits that poor pre and postnatal environments alter metabolic processes in a way which is initially adaptive, but increase the risk of disease later in life (Barker, 2004; Phillip et al., 1994; Phillips, 2006). Susceptibility varies during pregnancy, with highest risk during "critical windows" (Armitage et al., 2004; McMillen and Robinson, 2005; Widdowson and McCance, 1963). 'Foetal programming' could contribute to the risk of an eating disorder (and/or obesity) if individuals exposed to a poor in utero environment are subsequently exposed to an 'obesogenic lifestyle' to which their metabolism is poorly adapted. Exposure to other environmental pathogens in utero such as maternal stress or noxious agents may also increase the risk of an eating disorder by causing long term epigenetic changes. Some (Culbert et al., 2008), but not all (Raevuori et al., 2008, 2009) twin data suggest that in utero exposure to different concentrations of male or female sex steroids alters the risk of an eating disorder.

These various studies emphasise how early physical environmental effects might alter physiological "set points" related to appetite, weight and energy homeostasis and thus contribute to the risk of an eating disorder or obesity. It is important however, to note that the psychiatric comorbidity, and the learning and the fear conditioning associated with eating disorders may also be factors which to some extent are regulated by epigenetic processing (Roth and Sweatt, 2009). In fact, epigenetic changes may be particularly important in relation to behaviour and to the risk of psychiatric illness as the brain has a relatively high number of genes that are "imprinted" i.e. only one allele is expressed and some of these are associated with psychiatric/neurological problems e.g. Prader-Willi syndrome (Wilkinson et al., 2007).

3. Do epigenetic modifications mediate the effects of stress in pregnancy and/or perinatal complications on the risk of eating disorder in the offspring?

Maternal stress during pregnancy has effects on neonatal outcomes, on childhood emotional and cognitive functioning, and on adult psychopathology (Talge et al., 2007). People with eating disorders have increased anxiety and anxiety disorders that predate the eating disorder (Raney et al., 2008; Swinbourne and Touyz, 2007) and persist to an extent after recovery (Wentz et al., 2009). When pregnant, women with current or past eating disorders are likely to be more anxious than other pregnant women, in part because of concerns about gestational weight gain (Micali et al., 2007a; Swann et al., 2009). Bulimic symptoms in pregnancy are associated with anxiety, depression, lower self-esteem and poorer quality of life

(Knoph et al., 2008; Soares et al., 2008). Stress during pregnancy is likely to increase foetal glucocorticoid exposure (Glover et al., 2009) which may result in foetal growth retardation (Micali et al., 2007b) and adverse health consequences in adulthood, including obesity, anxiety, inflammation (Danese et al., 2007) and hypothalamic pituitary adrenal (HPA) axis malfunction. It is of note that altered stress responsivity and hypercortisolaemia, have been reported people with an eating disorder (Gluck, 2006; Lo et al., 2008; Schmidt et al., 1995, 1997) and chronic stress such as submission or threat to social rank has been implicated in the onset of both anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa (Connan et al., 2003, 2007a).

Prenatal/early postnatal stress leads to changes in foetal programming associated with susceptibility to a number of chronic diseases (Phillips, 2006, 2007). Such effects have at least in part been attributed to long term aberrant functioning of the offspring's HPA axis (Heim and Nemeroff, 2002; Jones et al., 2006; Seckl, 2008; Weinstock et al., 1992; Wust et al., 2005).

In rodents, a lack of postnatal maternal care leads to stress-related phenotypes in the offspring (Weaver et al., 2004; Schmidt et al., 2010) mediated by epigenetic modification of a NGF1-A transcription factor binding site in the promoter region of the glucocorticoid receptor (GC) gene (Weaver et al., 2004).

These data provide evidence that the risk of an offspring developing an eating disorder or obesity is altered by stressful events early in life and there is increasing evidence that the altered risk is associated with epigenetic changes. Together with the finding that stress in adulthood has marked and individually variant effects on appetite (Roberts et al., 2007), these data suggest potential interventions for pregnant women with a current or past eating disorder and/or high levels of stress or anxiety. Increased social support and/or education about the effects of poor maternal nutrition may buffer the maternal HPA axis from stress induced activation. Deleterious effects of stress on the offspring might be reduced by pharmacologically reducing glucocorticoid synthesis (Langley-Evans, 1997) or by dietary supplementation (Weaver et al., 2005).

4. Does nutrition in pregnancy alter the risk of an eating disorder in the offspring via epigenetic processes?

Women with current or past anorexia nervosa or bulimia nervosa have poorer obstetric outcomes (Blais et al., 2000; Ekeus et al., 2006; Micali et al., 2007b; Sollid et al., 2004). Fertility clinic attenders have high rates of eating disorders (Freizinger et al., 2008; Stewart et al., 1990) and treatment helps them conceive even at low weight. Pregnancy usually leads to symptom reduction or remission of pre-existing eating disorders (Micali et al., 2007b) but can be associated with new onsets (Bulik et al., 2007b). Pregnant women with eating disorders have altered eating behaviour, for example, undernutrition and/or bingeing, purging and restriction (Siega-Riz et al., 2008). Women with low pre-pregnancy body weights also have an increased risk of poor obstetric outcomes, and pre-pregnancy weight and gestational weight gain have a combined effect on foetal growth (Carmichael et al., 1997; Ehrenberg et al., 2003). As is the case with mothers with eating disorders, the risk of having a low birth weight baby is substantially accounted for by a low pre-pregnancy BMI (Micali et al., 2007a). Some of these effects may extend postpartum because of the way in which women with eating disorders feed their offspring (Stapleton et al., 2008; Ward, 2008).

The Dutch famine (1944–1945) has allowed in utero effects of maternal food deprivation to be studied in humans. Studies of adults born from pregnancies during the famine winter reveal wide-ranging effects on multiple traits relevant to nutrition and psychopathology and which are dependent on the timing of famine exposure during pregnancy and to some extent on gender.

In adulthood, those exposed to the famine in utero were, on average, 8kg heavier than those not exposed. Early gestational exposure to famine was associated with greater adult obesity and more heart disease and exposure in mid/late gestation with higher rates of impaired glucose tolerance and Type II diabetes (Lussana et al., 2008; Ravelli et al., 2005; Roseboom et al., 2001). Those exposed in early gestation had higher rates of central nervous system (CNS) abnormalities, schizophrenia, schizoid personality disorder and addictions (Franzek et al., 2008; Hoek et al., 1998). Males exposed in early/mid gestation had an increased risk of antisocial personality disorder at age 18 (Neugebauer et al., 1999) and exposure in mid/late gestation increased the risk of affective illness (Brown et al., 2000). Thus, nutritional state in utero is associated with altered food preferences, increased risk of obesity and psychiatric morbidity in adulthood. To date however, no study has looked specifically at the risk for eating disorders. As described below, there are also data (largely from animal studies) that in utero nutrient restriction can affect HPA axis functioning and stress responsivity in later life (Bloomfield et al., 2003; Vieau et al., 2007).

Changes associated with a poor in utero environment may be adaptive, for example, the organism may be programmed for rapid reproduction in a potentially hostile world (Seckl and Holmes, 2007). Indeed, women exposed to the Dutch Famine in utero started reproducing at a younger age and were reproductively more successful (Painter et al., 2008a,b). However, this adaptation comes at a price. Early menarche carries an increased risk of a mismatch between biological and socio-emotional development (Gluckman and Hanson, 2004, 2006). This may expose girls to early social pressures regarding their body shape and they may experience a sense of "being out of sync" at a vulnerable stage and be prone to anxiety, depression and impulsivity (Ellis, 2004). Dieting may be an attempt to 'treat' these problems, thereby increasing the risk of eating disorder. It is of note therefore, that early menarche is an identified risk factor for bulimia nervosa and other types of risk taking and self-destructive behaviours (Day et al., 2010; Stice and Shaw, 2002). The in utero effects of the Dutch Famine on development raise the possibility that mothers who are ill with anorexia nervosa at certain gestational stages may produce children programmed to have an increased risk of developing obesity and behavioural problems. This would be abhorrent to mothers who often worry about their child's weight, although a Dutch Famine study did not find an association between maternal stress and HPA axis responsivity in offspring (de, Sr. et al. 2006).

In relation to eating disorders, most studies of the risk of an off-spring developing an eating disorder have involved investigations of maternal undernutrition. However, it is important to recognise that there is an extensive clinical and animal literature on the effects of maternal obesity on the health of the offspring and how epigenetic processing may be involved (Heerwagen et al., 2010; Jungheim et al., 2010; Regnault et al., 2010; Vasudevan et al., 2010). These studies tend to be focussed on physical outcomes such as BMI and on changes that increase the risk of metabolic problems later in life. However, given that parental obesity and overeating are risk factors for bulimia nervosa and binge eating disorder, it seems very reasonable to include cases of maternal and paternal obesity in epigenetic studies related to the development of eating disorders.

In animals, poor nutrition in utero has long term effects on the offspring mediated by epigenetic processes (Ke et al., 2006; MacLennan et al., 2004). In the context of eating disorders (and obesity), an example is the agouti viable yellow allele in mice in which a promoter-region transposon is epigenetically altered by dietary manipulation of pregnant females. This affects agouti gene expression and produces a distribution in offspring coat colour phenotype (Cooney et al., 2002) and prevents transgenerational amplification of obesity. Another example of an epigenetically linked change in

phenotype is seen with a transposon-associated metastable epiallele in Axin Fused mice that produces a kinky tail phenotype correlated with the degree of DNA methylation across the region (Waterland and Jirtle, 2004). Supplementing maternal diet with methyl donors increases transposon DNA methylation in offspring, dramatically reducing the tail-kink phenotype (Fraga et al., 2005).

A major influence on DNA methylation is the availability of methyl-donors and co-factors, required for S-adenosyl methionine (SAM) formation. SAM is a methyl-donor for cytosine methylation on DNA (Chmurzynska, 2010). Dietary factors required for SAM formation include vitamins B2, B6, and B12, folate, methionine and choline. Extreme folate deficiency causes SAM depletion, genomewide hypomethylation, oncogene activation and cancer (Duthie, 2001; Duthie et al., 2002). B12 and folate deficiency are linked to impaired CNS development and some psychiatric conditions which share aetiological factors with eating disorders (Reynolds et al., 2007; Sugden, 2006): in animals, methyl donor supplements prevent transgenerational amplification of obesity (Waterland, 2003). In the present context, it is noted that six decades after the Dutch Famine, individuals exposed prenatally had less DNA methylation of the imprinted insulin-like growth factor 2 (IGF2) gene compared to their unexposed siblings, thus providing evidence that early environment can cause lifelong epigenetic changes (Heijmans et al., 2008).

These data indicate that the risk to the offspring of developing an eating disorder (or obesity) is changed by maternal nutrition and that some of these effects could be due to epigenetic changes. This route into illness is likely to account for a minority of cases but in the case of mothers with a history of an eating disorder, it defines a trajectory relevant to a high-risk group and their offspring. Cohort studies of pregnant women and their offspring will allow assessment of the risk of an eating disorder in the adolescent/young adult off-spring of mothers with a current or past eating disorder during pregnancy, and hopefully, an exploration of associated epigenetic changes. Dietary issues especially surrounding the availability of methyl donors/vitamin B12 should be reviewed and as well as the possibility of using dietary interventions to treat illness (Mariman, 2008).

5. Candidate genes for epigenetic studies in eating disorders

As stated above, biological factors associated with weight regulation and energy homeostasis may contribute to vulnerability to an eating disorder, to obesity and to some of their shared risk factors. There is an extensive literature on how gastrointestinal and energy sensing systems in the periphery interact with central loci especially in the hypothalamus (Luquet and Magnan, 2009; Pirnik et al., 2010; Smith and Ferguson, 2008; Wren, 2008) but also with higher brain areas (Batterham et al., 2007). How these systems develop in utero or in childhood and how, for example, an individual regulates weight around a "set point" could, at least in part, be due to early epigenetic encoding. Such regulatory systems might then remain relatively stable throughout life. On the other hand, there is the possibility that in some cases, they can be substantially altered in adulthood as a response to environmental influences. In this context, five genes (FTO [fat mass and obesity associated], leptin (and its receptor), pro-opiomelanocortin [POMC] and BDNF) are used as examples that might be epigenetically modified in ways that alter risk.

People with two copies of a common polymorphism in the FTO gene have a 70% increased risk of obesity and variants of FTO are associated with obesity and increased BMI (Frayling et al., 2007; Hunt et al., 2008; Scuteri et al., 2007; Wardle et al., 2008; Yang et al., 2007). Furthermore, the FTO-associated risk of obesity is reportedly enhanced by a lack of physical activity (Andreasen et al., 2008). FTO is highly expressed in the hypotha-

lamus (Gerken et al., 2007b) and FTO null mice are small, have decreased fat mass, decreased lean mass and are hyperphagic, which is explained by them having increased energy expenditure (Fischer et al., 2009). The gene encodes a 2-oxoglutarate oxygenase dependent nucleic acid demethylase, preferentially demethylates 3-methylthymidine, and decreased food intake in mice is associated with decreased FTO mRNA (Gerken et al., 2007b; Jia et al., 2008). Thus, increased FTO activity would be predicted to increase DNA demethylation and stimulate expression of genes regulated by FTO activity, and FTO null mice would be predicted to have increased methylation at specific (unknown) loci.

In people, early epigenetic changes mediated by FTO associated DNA demethylation might set levels of resting energy expenditure which could impart a lifetime propensity to high or low weight. Alternatively, FTO activity may be environmentally sensitive throughout life. If there are societal pressures to be slim, people with FTO variants associated with increased BMI, may adopt compensatory behaviours which increase the risk of an eating disorder. Thus, (especially in relation to bulimia nervosa and binge eating disorder) a case can be made for examining GXE involving FTO and also for establishing which genes might be demethylated by its actions. Linking FTO with anorexia nervosa is more difficult but arguably, the risk of illness may be partially due to an enhanced ability to escape from the physiological drive to eat and this could arise from epigenetic changes associated with this gene.

Leptin and its associated receptor provide two candidate genes. Leptin is a peptide produced by adipocytes and it is involved in processes related to energy storage and utilisation (Considine, 2005; Maffei et al., 1995; Morton, 2007; Zhang et al., 1994). It is actively transported across the blood brain barrier (BBB) and leptin receptors are widely distributed in the adult brain (Zhang et al., 2005). Leptin has been implicated in a variety of physiological processes several of which are germane to eating disorders. For example, it is involved in reproduction (Caprio et al., 2001) in bone metabolism (Cornish et al., 2002; Reid, 2010) and low levels are apparently related to the hyperactivity seen in many patients with anorexia nervosa (Hebebrand et al., 2003). It has also been implicated in the modulation of brain reward circuitry related to eating (Faroogi et al., 2007; Fulton et al., 2000;) and lastly, common polymorphisms in both the leptin gene and its receptor are associated with birth weight but also with the development of metabolic diseases in adulthood (Souren et al., 2008). In terms of epigenetic changes that might alter the risk of developing an eating disorder, it can be proposed that leptin, its transport system across the BBB, its receptor(s) and the associated receptor effector system are all potential loci for epigenetic modification. This is especially so during development when leptin and its receptor are involved in neuronal migration, survival and outgrowth (Pan et al., 2008). Within this context, it is of note that in the leptin gene promoter sequence, there are highly variable densities of cytosine methylation and these are apparently subject to dynamic epigenetic regulation (Stoger, 2006, 2008). However, it is important to recognise that any epigenetic changes that might involve the leptin axis may only occur during development, for example, at a time when the "set point" associated with energy homeostasis is defined. In this scenario, the functioning of such systems in adulthood may involve no epigenetic modifications and there will be no longitudinal epigenetic changes associated with the development, maintenance or recovery from an eating

POMC is a polypeptide hormone precursor which gives rise to adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH) and melanocortin stimulating hormone (MSH): the former is an integral part of the HPA axis and the latter an anorexigenic peptide in the hypothalamus (D'Agostino and Diano, 2010). It has been reported that changes in methylation of the POMC gene promoter region are associated with being underweight (Ehrlich et al., 2010) and in addition, there

is a study which indicates that there is increased DNA methylation in the POMC gene promoter associated with craving in alcohol dependence (Muschler et al., 2010). This latter observation is of interest as there are models of bulimia nervosa and binge eating disorder which propose that they are associated with altered reward processing which gives rise to addiction-like behaviours such as craving (Davis and Claridge, 1998; Van den et al., 2010; Volkow and Wise, 2005).

The last example of a candidate gene is brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF). BDNF affects neural development and polymorphisms in the BDNF gene have been associated with eating disorders (Mercader et al., 2007; Nakazato et al., 2009) BDNF apparently regulates neuronal histone deacetylase2 (Nott et al., 2008) and thus it may influence epigenetic regulation of other inducible genes that is, it may alter the risk of an eating disorder via histone modification. Furthermore, chronic social defeat stress in adult animals alters the regulation of BDNF expression in the hippocampus through tissue-specific epigenetic histone modifications (Berton et al., 2006; Tsankova et al., 2006, 2007).

Using the functions of these genes as exemplars shows how epigenetic models of eating disorders can be created that have neural development, nutrition, stress, craving and/or cognition as core components.

6. Epigenetic changes associated with psychological processes: implications for eating disorders

Psychiatric comorbidity is common in eating disorders and they may share some susceptibility genes with mood, impulse control and substance misuse disorders (Hudson and Pope, Jr., 2007; Spindler and Milos, 2007). All of these problems are related to temperamental traits. People with eating disorders typically have a fear of food, eating and fatness which does not habituate even during prolonged treatment with regular meals. In individuals who are temperamentally anxious and whose emotion circuitry is highly sensitive to environmentally induced plasticity, the development and maintenance of eating disorders may involve pathological fear conditioning (Strober, 2004; Strober et al., 2007). In this scenario, eating disorders can be seen as developing from learned behaviours with weight-related symptoms arising from a combination of physiological and psychological risk factors. This model of eating disorders is attractive as the learned behaviours associated with illness may, in part, arise from epigenetic modifications: this is supported by evidence that long-term memory formation and fear conditioning are epigenetically controlled (Levenson and Sweatt, 2005; Tsankova et al., 2007) and that cognitive function can be affected by epigenetic changes (Reichenberg et al., 2009). However, as discussed below, there are practical problems related to the study of epigenetic processes associated with psychological events/states. On the other hand, it seems likely that in the relatively near future, there will be psychological interventions which will have epigenetic change embedded in their conceptual frameworks. For example, in studies related to fear extinction, it has become clear that the reconsolidation phase can be used as a window to rewrite emotional memories (Schiller et al., 2010): increasingly, such studies involve the use of drugs such as propanolol (Kindt et al., 2009), D-cycloserine (Hofmann, 2007; Norberg et al., 2008) and glucocorticoids (Aerni et al., 2004; Bentz et al., 2010) and at least in the case of glucocorticoids, memory associated changes have been shown to involve chromation modification (Roozendaal et al., 2010).

7. Epigenetic research and eating disorders

Epigenetic studies of psychiatric/behavioural diseases, are relatively recent and methods are still being developed (Mill and

Petronis, 2007). There have however, been some epigenetic studies in eating disorders. Significant global DNA hypomethylation has been found in lymphocytes from patients with anorexia nervosa, but not bulimia nervosa (Frieling et al., 2007). This included decreased expression of the alpha synuclein gene (SNCA) associated with hypermethylation of the SNCA promoter in patients with anorexia nervosa. They also investigated epigenetic regulation of vasopressin and atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP) (Frieling et al., 2008). No differences were seen for vasopressin, but there were lower levels of ANP mRNA in patients with eating disorders: this was accompanied by hypermethylation of the ANP gene promoter in the bulimia nervosa subgroup suggesting that epigenetic changes contribute to the change. The same group have also reported that there are epigenetic changes in dopaminergic genes (Frieling et al., 2009) and in the POMC gene (Ehrlich et al., 2010) in people with eating disorders.

The most common approach until recently has been to examine polymorphisms in candidate genes (especially in promoter regions) to establish whether they could be loci for epigenetic modification, e.g., CpG islands: this may increase explanatory options for observed risk and help to elucidate the potential effects of polymorphisms in genes that regulate epigenetic processes. To date, no genome-wide survey of epigenetic changes associated with eating disorders has been performed, although this may change as an 'epigenome' scan has recently been completed (Lister et al., 2009a). Elsewhere, particularly in oncology, studies of histone modifications are ongoing. However, although methods for screening the epigenome are available, epigenetic studies related to psychiatric illness face methodological challenges. One is the likelihood of some tissue specificity in environmentally induced epigenetic changes. This means that examination of the primary sites of disease manifestation are preferable. However, postmortem brain may be difficult to obtain especially from people who had eating disorders and secondly, its use is confounded by factors such as cause of death and, in some cases, restrospective diagnosis. In addition, numerous neuroimaging studies have shown the diversity of neural processes associated with the symptomatology of eating disorders, its subtypes and the responses to treatment (Uher et al., 2003; Friederich et al., 2010). Thus, being able to associate discrete symptoms of eating disorders with changes in specific brain areas and to incorporate them into epigenetic studies is at a relatively early stage. However, the use of more broadly based neural models of eating disorders, for example those that hypothesise that a cortical-subcortical imbalance is a core element of the illness (Kaye et al., 2009), may be of more value to epigenetic studies. If the part of the risk and/or of the maintenance of an eating disorder (or obesity) is associated with epigenetic changes in the stress axis or alternatively with altered cognitive processes (Nakazato et al., 2009; Tchanturia et al., 2005, 2007), such changes might not occur/have occurred in peripheral tissues. On the other hand, many epimutations are not limited to the affected tissue or cell type. Examples are the epimutations at IGF2 in lymphocytes and MLH1 in sperm cells seen in colon cancer patients, and epimutations at KCNQ10T1 in the lymphocytes and skin fibroblasts in Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome (Pembrey et al., 2006; Weksberg et al., 2002). Thus, given that there is some evidence for early-developmental effects on the subsequent risk of eating disorders, studies on peripheral tissues may reveal epigenetic changes resulting from embryogenesis when cell replication is high and epigenetic marks controlling development are being established (Weaver et al., 2004). Lastly, given the possible involvement of metabolic processes in the aetiology of eating disorders, some epigenetic changes in peripheral cells, for example adipocytes, may be directly involved in the pathogenesis of these disorders.

Another approach to the problem of studying brain tissue is to use rodent models of anorexia nervosa (Carrera et al., 2006; Gelegen

et al., 2007, 2010) or bulimia nervosa (Avena et al., 2006; Boggiano and Chandler, 2006). These have potential for investigating interactions between energy balance, reward and stress. They will also allow investigation of how environmental factors cause eating disorder related epigenetic changes and establish the extent to which epigenetic changes in specific brain regions are detectable peripherally. Rodent studies will also enable candidate genes for specific neuronal systems to be investigated. For example, it will be of interest to establish the extent to which learning is underpinned by epigenetic change as it is arguable that, especially in eating disorders, learned behaviour is a component of the development, maintenance and recovery from illness.

8. Conclusions

Disorder salient changes that increase the risk of an eating disorder may be present in systems that regulate and/or contribute to weight and energy homeostasis. If these systems function normally, individuals with the same psychological profile may be primarily at risk of other psychiatric problems such as anxiety or obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD). Adaptability in systems regulating energy homeostasis may be diverse in the population and individual differences could contribute to the lifetime risk of an eating disorder (or obesity) in people who have a general predisposition to psychiatric disorders. Adaptability is likely to be a combination of genetic and epigenetic factors ie how these combine to confer flexibility on the epigenome. The risk of developing an eating disorder (or obesity) could therefore be increased because of early exposure to poor nutrition, an obesogenic environment or to stressors which promote adaptive epigenetic changes which are maladaptive later in life because of a changed environment. Alternatively, in adulthood, an individual may be unable to make appropriate adaptive epigenetic changes to changing environments. These possibilities are not mutually exclusive. Finally, as it can be argued that cognitive flexibility and ability to learn new behaviours are key elements of healthy mental functioning, it is important to establish if (or to what extent) epigenetics is involved in learning and memory and to develop clinical and dietary strategies for altering the processes

In terms of the future, studies will address issues related to tissue specificity and epigenetic change and some will examine GxE in relation to epigenetic changes in candidate genes. Genome wide epigenetic studies will be more widely used to compare the epigenome in health and disease and in response to treatment interventions. Studies which seek to integrate histone and DNA changes are likely to prove more challenging. Finally, with specific reference to eating disorders, it is likely that there will be therapeutic studies which will seek to alter the epigenome by dietary and/or pharmacological interventions.

Conflict of interest

The authors have no conflicting interests.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by a UK Department of Health NIHR Programme Grant for Applied Research (RP-PG-0606-1043), by a Multicentre EU Marie Curie Research Training Network grant, INTACT (MRTN-CT-2006-035988) and by a grant from the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Specialist Biomedical Research Centre for Mental Health award to the South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust and the Institute of Psychiatry, King's College London. The views expressed herein are not necessarily those of the grant awarding bodies.

References

- Aerni, A., Traber, R., Hock, C., Roozendaal, B., Schelling, G., Papassotiropoulos, A., Nitsch, R.M., Schnyder, U., de Quervain, D.J., 2004. Low-dose cortisol for symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder. Am. J. Psychiatry 161, 1488–1490.
- Andreasen, C.H., Andersen, G., 2009. Gene-environment interactions and obesity—further aspects of genome-wide association studies. Nutrition 25, 998–1003.
- Andreasen, C.H., Stender-Petersen, K.L., Mogensen, M.S., Torekov, S.S., Wegner, L., Andersen, G., Nielsen, A.L., Albrechtsen, A., Borch-Johnsen, K., Rasmussen, S.S., Clausen, J.O., Sandbaek, A., Lauritzen, T., Hansen, L., Jorgensen, T., Pedersen, O., Hansen, T., 2008. Low physical activity accentuates the effect of the FTO rs9939609 polymorphism on body fat accumulation. Diabetes 57, 95–101.
- Armitage, J.A., Khan, I.Y., Taylor, P.D., Nathanielsz, P.W., Poston, L., 2004. Developmental programming of the metabolic syndrome by maternal nutritional imbalance: how strong is the evidence from experimental models in mammals? J. Physiol. 561, 355–377.
- Avena, N.M., Rada, P., Moise, N., Hoebel, B.G., 2006. Sucrose sham feeding on a binge schedule releases accumbens dopamine repeatedly and eliminates the acetylcholine satiety response. Neuroscience 139, 813–820.
- Barker, D.J., 2004. The developmental origins of adult disease. J. Am. Coll. Nutr. 23, 5885–5955
- Batterham, R.L., ffytche, D.H., Rosenthal, J.M., Zelaya, F.O., Barker, G.J., Withers, D.J., Williams, S.C., 2007. PYY modulation of cortical and hypothalamic brain areas predicts feeding behaviour in humans. Nature 450, 106–109.
- Baylin, S.B., Schuebel, K.E., 2007. Genomic biology: the epigenomic era opens. Nature 448. 548–549.
- Bentz, D., Michael, T., de Quervain, D.J., Wilhelm, F.H., 2010. Enhancing exposure therapy for anxiety disorders with glucocorticoids: from basic mechanisms of emotional learning to clinical applications. J. Anxiety Disord. 24, 223–230.
- Berton, O., McClung, C.A., Dileone, R.J., Krishnan, V., Renthal, W., Russo, S.J., Graham, D., Tsankova, N.M., Bolanos, C.A., Rios, M., Monteggia, L.M., Self, D.W., Nestler, E.J., 2006. Essential role of BDNF in the mesolimbic dopamine pathway in social defeat stress. Science 311, 864–868.
- Blais, M.A., Becker, A.E., Burwell, R.A., Flores, A.T., Nussbaum, K.M., Greenwood, D.N., Ekeblad, E.R., Herzog, D.B., 2000. Pregnancy: outcome and impact on symptomatology in a cohort of eating-disordered women. Int. J. Eat. Disord. 27, 140–149.
- Bloomfield, F.H., Oliver, M.H., Giannoulias, C.D., Gluckman, P.D., Harding, J.E., Challis, J.R., 2003. Brief undernutrition in late-gestation sheep programs the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in adult offspring. Endocrinology 144, 2933–2940.
- Boggiano, M.M., Chandler, P.C., 2006. Binge eating in rats produced by combining dieting with stress. Curr. Protoc. Neurosci., Chapter 9, Unit 9.
- Bornstein, S.R., Schuppenies, A., Wong, M.L., Licinio, J., 2006. Approaching the shared biology of obesity and depression: the stress axis as the locus of gene-environment interactions. Mol. Psychiatry 11, 892–902.
- Bouchard, L., Rabasa-Lhoret, R., Faraj, M., Lavoie, M.E., Mill, J., Perusse, L., Vohl, M.C., 2010. Differential epigenomic and transcriptomic responses in subcutaneous adipose tissue between low and high responders to caloric restriction. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 91. 309–320.
- Brown, A.S., van, O.J., Driessens, C., Hoek, H.W., Susser, E.S., 2000. Further evidence of relation between prenatal famine and major affective disorder. Am. J. Psychiatry 157, 190–195.
- Bulik, C.M., Slof-Op't Landt, M.C., van Furth, E.F., Sullivan, P.F., 2007a. The genetics of anorexia nervosa. Annu. Rev. Nutr. 27, 263–275.
- Bulik, C.M., Von, H.A., Hamer, R., Knoph, B.C., Torgersen, L., Magnus, P., Stoltenberg, C., Siega-Riz, A.M., Sullivan, P., Reichborn-Kjennerud, T., 2007b. Patterns of remission, continuation and incidence of broadly defined eating disorders during early pregnancy in the Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study (MoBa). Psychol. Med. 37, 1109–1118.
- Caprio, M., Fabbrini, E., Isidori, A.M., Aversa, A., Fabbri, A., 2001. Leptin in reproduction. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 12, 65–72.
- Carmichael, S., Abrams, B., Selvin, S., 1997. The pattern of maternal weight gain in women with good pregnancy outcomes. Am. J. Public Health 87, 1984–1988.
- Carrera, O., Gutierrez, E., Boakes, R.A., 2006. Early handling reduces vulnerability of rats to activity-based anorexia. Dev. Psychobiol. 48, 520–527.
- Caspi, A., Moffitt, T.E., 2006. Gene-environment interactions in psychiatry: joining forces with neuroscience. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 7, 583–590.
- Champagne, F.A., 2008. Epigenetic mechanisms and the transgenerational effects of maternal care. Front, Neuroendocrinol. 29, 386–397.
- maternal care. Front. Neuroendocrinol. 29, 386–397. Chmurzynska, A., 2010. Fetal programming: link between early nutrition DNA
- methylation, and complex diseases. Nutr. Rev. 68, 87–98.
 Connan, F., Campbell, I.C., Katzman, M., Lightman, S.L., Treasure, J., 2003. A neurode-velopmental model for anorexia nervosa. Physiol. Behav. 79, 13–24.
- Connan, F., Troop, N., Landau, S., Campbell, I.C., Treasure, J., 2007a. Poor social comparison and the tendency to submissive behavior in anorexia nervosa. Int. J. Eat. Disord. 40. 733–739.
- Connan, F., Lightman, S.L., Landau, S., Wheeler, M., Treasure, J., Campbell, I.C., 2007b. An investigation of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis hyperactivity in anorexia nervosa: the role of CRH and AVP. J. Psychiatr. Res. 41, 131–143.
- Considine, R.V., 2005. Human leptin: an adipocyte hormone with weight-regulatory and endocrine functions. Semin. Vasc. Med. 5, 15–24.
- Cooney, C.A., Dave, A.A., Wolff, G.L., 2002. Maternal methyl supplements in mice affect epigenetic variation and DNA methylation of offspring. J. Nutr. 132, 2393S–2400S.

- Cornish, J., Callon, K.E., Bava, U., Lin, C., Naot, D., Hill, B.L., Grey, A.B., Broom, N., Myers, D.E., Nicholson, G.C., Reid, I.R., 2002. Leptin directly regulates bone cell function in vitro and reduces bone fragility in vivo. J. Endocrinol. 175, 405–415.
- Culbert, K.M., Breedlove, S.M., Burt, S.A., Klump, K.L., 2008. Prenatal hormone exposure and risk for eating disorders: a comparison of opposite-sex and same-sex twins. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 65, 329–336.
- Currin, L., Schmidt, U., Treasure, J., Jick, H., 2005. Time trends in eating disorder incidence. Br. J. Psychiatry 186, 132–135.
- D'Agostino, G., Diano, S., 2010. alpha-Melanocyte stimulating hormone: production and degradation. J. Mol. Med..
- Dai, F., Sun, G., Aberg, K., Keighley, E.D., Indugula, S.R., Roberts, S.T., Smelser, D., Viali, S., Jin, L., Deka, R., Weeks, D.E., McGarvey, S.T., 2008. A whole genome linkage scan identifies multiple chromosomal regions influencing adiposity-related traits among Samoans. Ann. Hum. Genet. 72, 780–792.
- Danese, A., Pariante, C.M., Caspi, A., Taylor, A., Poulton, R., 2007. Childhood maltreatment predicts adult inflammation in a life-course study. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104, 1319–1324.
- Darby, A., Hay, P., Mond, J., Quirk, F., Buttner, P., Kennedy, L., 2009. The rising prevalence of comorbid obesity and eating disorder behaviors from 1995 to 2005. Int. J. Eat. Disord. 42, 104–108.
- Davis, C., Claridge, G., 1998. The eating disorders as addiction: a psychobiological perspective. Addict. Behav. 23, 463–475.
- Day, J., Schmidt, U., Collier, D., Perkins, S., Van den, E.F., Treasure, J., Yi, I., Winn, S., Robinson, P., Murphy, R., Keville, S., Johnson-Sabine, E., Jenkins, M., Frost, S., Dodge, L., Berelowitz, M., Eisler, I., 2010. Risk factors, correlates, and markers in early-onset bulimia nervosa and EDNOS. Int. J. Eat. Disord..
- de Castro, J.M., 2004. Genes, the environment and the control of food intake. Br. J. Nutr. 92 (Suppl. 1), S59–S62.
- de Sr., R., Painter, R.C., Phillips, D.I., Osmond, C., Tanck, M.W., Bossuyt, P.M., Roseboom, T.J., 2006. Cortisol responses to psychological stress in adults after prenatal exposure to the Dutch famine. Psychoneuroendocrinology 31, 1257–1265.
- Dulac, C., 2010. Brain function and chromatin plasticity. Nature 465, 728-735.
- Duman, R.S., Newton, S.S., 2007. Epigenetic marking and neuronal plasticity. Biol. Psychiatry 62, 1–3.
- Duthie, S.J., 2001. Folic-acid-mediated inhibition of human colon-cancer cell growth. Nutrition 17, 736–737.
- Duthie, S.J., Narayanan, S., Brand, G.M., Pirie, L., Grant, G., 2002. Impact of folate deficiency on DNA stability. J. Nutr. 132, 2444S–2449S.
- Ehrenberg, H.M., Dierker, L., Milluzzi, C., Mercer, B.M., 2003. Low maternal weight, failure to thrive in pregnancy, and adverse pregnancy outcomes. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 189, 1726–1730.
- Ehrlich, S., Weiss, D., Burghardt, R., Infante-Duarte, C., Brockhaus, S., Muschler, M.A., Bleich, S., Lehmkuhl, U., Frieling, H., 2010. Promoter specific DNA methylation and gene expression of POMC in acutely underweight and recovered patients with anorexia nervosa. I. Psychiatr. Res. 44. 827–833.
- Ekeus, C., Lindberg, L., Lindblad, F., Hjern, A., 2006. Birth outcomes and pregnancy complications in women with a history of anorexia nervosa. BJOG 113, 925–929.
- Ellis, B.J., 2004. Timing of pubertal maturation in girls: an integrated life history approach. Psychol. Bull. 130. 920–958.
- Fairburn, C.G., Welch, S.L., Doll, H.A., Davies, B.A., O'Connor, M.E., 1997. Risk factors for bulimia nervosa. A community-based case-control study. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 54, 509–517.
- Farooqi, I.S., Bullmore, E., Keogh, J., Gillard, J., O'Rahilly, S., Fletcher, P.C., 2007. Leptin regulates striatal regions and human eating behavior. Science 317, 1355.
- Fawcett, K.A., Barroso, I., 2010. The genetics of obesity: FTO leads the way. Trends Genet. 26, 266–274.
- Feinberg, A.P., 2008. Epigenetics at the epicenter of modern medicine. JAMA 299, 1345–1350.
- Fischer, J., Koch, L., Emmerling, C., Vierkotten, J., Peters, T., Bruning, J.C., Ruther, U., 2009. Inactivation of the Fto gene protects from obesity. Nature 458, 894–898.
- Fraga, M.F., Ballestar, E., Paz, M.F., Ropero, S., Setien, F., Ballestar, M.L., Heine-Suner, D., Cigudosa, J.C., Urioste, M., Benitez, J., Boix-Chornet, M., Sanchez-Aguilera, A., Ling, C., Carlsson, E., Poulsen, P., Vaag, A., Stephan, Z., Spector, T.D., Wu, Y.Z., Plass, C., Esteller, M., 2005. Epigenetic differences arise during the lifetime of monozygotic twins. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 102, 10604–10609.
- Franzek, E.J., Sprangers, N., Janssens, A.C., Van Duijn, C.M., van de Wetering, B.J., 2008. Prenatal exposure to the 1944-45 Dutch 'hunger winter' and addiction later in life. Addiction 103, 433-438.
- Frayling, T.M., Timpson, N.J., Weedon, M.N., Zeggini, E., Freathy, R.M., Lindgren, C.M., Perry, J.R., Elliott, K.S., Lango, H., Rayner, N.W., Shields, B., Harries, L.W., Barrett, J.C., Ellard, S., Groves, C.J., Knight, B., Patch, A.M., Ness, A.R., Ebrahim, S., Lawlor, D.A., Ring, S.M., Ben-Shlomo, Y., Jarvelin, M.R., Sovio, U., Bennett, A.J., Melzer, D., Ferrucci, L., Loos, R.J., Barroso, I., Wareham, N.J., Karpe, F., Owen, K.R., Cardon, L.R., Walker, M., Hitman, G.A., Palmer, C.N., Doney, A.S., Morris, A.D., Smith, G.D., Hattersley, A.T., McCarthy, M.I., 2007. A common variant in the FTO gene is associated with body mass index and predisposes to childhood and adult obesity. Science 316, 889–894.
- Freizinger, M., Franko, D.L., Dacey, M., Okun, B., Domar, A.D., 2008. The prevalence of eating disorders in infertile women. Fertil. Steril.
- Friederich, H.C., Brooks, S., Uher, R., Campbell, I.C., Giampietro, V., Brammer, M., Williams, S.C., Herzog, W., Treasure, J., 2010. Neural correlates of body (dis-)satisfaction in anorexia nervosa. Neuropsychologia.
- Frieling, H., Bleich, S., Otten, J., Romer, K.D., Kornhuber, J., de, Z.M., Jacoby, G.E., Wilhelm, J., Hillemacher, T., 2008. Epigenetic downregulation of atrial

- natriuretic peptide but not vasopressin mRNA expression in females with eating disorders is related to impulsivity. Neuropsychopharmacology 33, 2605–2609
- Frieling, H., Gozner, A., Romer, K.D., Lenz, B., Bonsch, D., Wilhelm, J., Hillemacher, T., de, Z.M., Kornhuber, J., Bleich, S., 2007. Global DNA hypomethylation and DNA hypermethylation of the alpha synuclein promoter in females with anorexia nervosa. Mol. Psychiatry 12, 229–230.
- Frieling, H., Romer, K.D., Scholz, S., Mittelbach, F., Wilhelm, J., de, Z.M., Jacoby, G.E., Kornhuber, J., Hillemacher, T., Bleich, S., 2009. Epigenetic dysregulation of dopaminergic genes in eating disorders. Int. J. Eat. Disord. 43, 577–583.
- Fulton, S., Woodside, B., Shizgal, P., 2000. Modulation of brain reward circuitry by leptin. Science 287, 125–128.
- Gelegen, C., Collier, D.A., Campbell, I.C., Oppelaar, H., van den, H.J., Adan, R.A., Kas, M.J., 2007. Difference in susceptibility to activity-based anorexia in two inbred strains of mice. Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol. 17, 199–205.
- Gelegen, C., Pjetri, E., Campbell, I.C., Collier, D.A., Oppelaar, H., Kas, M.J.K., 2010. Chromosomal mapping of excessive physical activity in mice in response to a restricted feeding schedule. Eur. J. Neuropsychopharmacol. 10, 317–326.
- Gerken, T., Girard, C.A., Tung, Y.C., Webby, C.J., Saudek, V., Hewitson, K.S., Yeo, G.S., McDonough, M.A., Cunliffe, S., McNeill, L.A., Galvanovskis, J., Rorsman, P., Robins, P., Prieur, X., Coll, A.P., Ma, M., Jovanovic, Z., Farooqi, I.S., Sedgwick, B., Barroso, I., Lindahl, T., Ponting, C.P., Ashcroft, F.M., O'Rahilly, S., Schofield, C.J., 2007b. The obesity-associated FTO gene encodes a 2-oxoglutarate-dependent nucleic acid demethylase. Science 318, 1469–1472.
- Glover, V., Bergman, K., Sarkar, P., O'Connor, T.G., 2009. Association between maternal and amniotic fluid cortisol is moderated by maternal anxiety. Psychoneuroendocrinology 34, 430–435.
- Gluck, M.E., 2006. Stress response and binge eating disorder. Appetite 46, 26–30.
- Gluckman, P.D., Hanson, M.A., 2004. Living with the past: evolution, development, and patterns of disease. Science 305, 1733–1736.
- Gluckman, P.D., Hanson, M.A., 2006. Evolution, development and timing of puberty. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 17, 7–12.
- Haines, J., Neumark-Sztainer, D., 2006. Prevention of obesity and eating disorders: a consideration of shared risk factors. Health Educ. Res. 21, 770–782.
- Hamilton, A., Voinnet, O., Chappell, L., Baulcombe, D., 2002. Two classes of short interfering RNA in RNA silencing. EMBO J. 21, 4671–4679.
- Hay, P.J., Mond, J., Buttner, P., Darby, A., 2008. Eating disorder behaviors are increasing: findings from two sequential community surveys in South Australia. PLoS ONE 3, e1541.
- Hebebrand, J., Bammann, K., Hinney, A., 2010. [Genetic determinants of obesity: Current issues]. Bundesgesundheitsblatt. Gesundheitsforschung. Gesundheitsschutz.
- Hebebrand, J., Exner, C., Hebebrand, K., Holtkamp, C., Casper, R.C., Remschmidt, H., Herpertz-Dahlmann, B., Klingenspor, M., 2003. Hyperactivity in patients with anorexia nervosa and in semistarved rats: evidence for a pivotal role of hypoleptinemia. Physiol. Behav. 79, 25–37.
- Heerwagen, M.J., Miller, M.R., Barbour, L.A., Friedman, J.E., 2010. Maternal obesity and fetal metabolic programming: a fertile epigenetic soil. Am. J. Physiol Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol..
- Heijmans, B.T., Tobi, E.W., Stein, A.D., Putter, H., Blauw, G.J., Susser, E.S., Slagboom, P.E., Lumey, L.H., 2008. Persistent epigenetic differences associated with prenatal exposure to famine in humans. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105, 17046–17049.
- Heim, C., Nemeroff, C.B., 2002. Neurobiology of early life stress: clinical studies.Semin. Clin. Neuropsychiatry 7, 147–159.Hoek, H.W., Brown, A.S., Susser, E., 1998. The Dutch famine and schizophrenia spec-
- trum disorders. Soc. Psychiatry Psychiatr. Epidemiol. 33, 373–379.
- Hofmann, S.G., 2007. Enhancing exposure-based therapy from a translational research perspective. Behav. Res. Ther. 45, 1987–2001.Hudson, J.I., Pope Jr., H.G., 2007. Genetic epidemiology of eating disorders and co-
- Hudson, J.I., Pope Jr., H.G., 2007. Genetic epidemiology of eating disorders and cooccurring conditions: the role of endophenotypes. Int. J. Eat. Disord. 40 (Suppl.), S76–S78.
- Hunt, S.C., Stone, S., Xin, Y., Scherer, C.A., Magness, C.L., Iadonato, S.P., Hopkins, P.N., Adams, T.D., 2008. Association of the FTO gene with BMI. Obesity (Silver. Spring) 16, 902–904.
- Jacobi, C., Hayward, C., de, Z.M., Kraemer, H.C., Agras, W.S., 2004. Coming to terms with risk factors for eating disorders: application of risk terminology and suggestions for a general taxonomy. Psychol. Bull. 130, 19–65.
- Jia, G., Yang, C.G., Yang, S., Jian, X., Yi, C., Zhou, Z., He, C., 2008. Oxidative demethylation of 3-methylthymine and 3-methyluracil in single-stranded DNA and RNA by mouse and human FTO. FEBS Lett. 582, 3313–3319.
- Jones, A., Godfrey, K.M., Wood, P., Osmond, C., Goulden, P., Phillips, D.I., 2006. Fetal growth and the adrenocortical response to psychological stress. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 91, 1868–1871.
- Jungheim, E.S., Schoeller, E.L., Marquard, K.L., Louden, E.D., Schaffer, J.E., Moley, K.H., 2010. Diet-induced obesity model: abnormal oocytes and persistent growth abnormalities in the offspring. Endocrinology 151, 4039–4046.
- Kaati, G., Bygren, L.O., Pembrey, M., Sjostrom, M., 2007. Transgenerational response to nutrition, early life circumstances and longevity. Eur. J. Hum. Genet. 15, 784–790.
- Kaye, W.H., Fudge, J.L., Paulus, M., 2009. New insights into symptoms and neurocircuit function of anorexia nervosa. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 10, 573–584.
- Ke, X., Lei, Q., James, S.J., Kelleher, S.L., Melnyk, S., Jernigan, S., Yu, X., Wang, L., Callaway, C.W., Gill, G., Chan, G.M., Albertine, K.H., McKnight, R.A., Lane, R.H., 2006. Uteroplacental insufficiency affects epigenetic determinants of chromatin structure in brains of neonatal and juvenile IUGR rats. Physiol. Genomics 25, 16–28.

- Keel, P.K., Klump, K.L., 2003. Are eating disorders culture-bound syndromes? Implications for conceptualizing their etiology. Psychol. Bull. 129, 747–769.
- Keith, S.W., Redden, D.T., Katzmarzyk, P.T., Boggiano, M.M., Hanlon, E.C., Benca, R.M., Ruden, D., Pietrobelli, A., Barger, J.L., Fontaine, K.R., Wang, C., Aronne, L.J., Wright, S.M., Baskin, M., Dhurandhar, N.V., Lijoi, M.C., Grilo, C.M., DeLuca, M., Westfall, A.O., Allison, D.B., 2006. Putative contributors to the secular increase in obesity: exploring the roads less traveled. Int. J. Obes. (Lond.) 30, 1585–1594.
- Kindt, M., Soeter, M., Vervliet, B., 2009. Beyond extinction: erasing human fear responses and preventing the return of fear. Nat. Neurosci. 12, 256–258.
- Knoph, B.C., Bulik, C.M., Von, H.A., Torgersen, L., Hamer, R., Sullivan, P., Reichborn-Kjennerud, T., 2008. Psychosocial factors associated with broadly defined bulimia nervosa during early pregnancy: findings from the Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study. Aust. N. Z. J. Psychiatry 42, 396–404.
- Korner, A., Kiess, W., Stumvoll, M., Kovacs, P., 2008. Polygenic contribution to obesity: genome-wide strategies reveal new targets. Front. Horm. Res. 36, 12–36.
- Langley-Evans, S.C., 1997. Hypertension induced by foetal exposure to a maternal low-protein diet, in the rat, is prevented by pharmacological blockade of maternal glucocorticoid synthesis. J. Hypertens. 15, 537–544.
- Levenson, J.M., Sweatt, J.D., 2005. Epigenetic mechanisms in memory formation. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 6, 108–118.
- Lim, A.L., Ferguson-Smith, A.C., 2010. Genomic imprinting effects in a compromised in utero environment: implications for a healthy pregnancy. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 21, 201–208.
- Lister, R., Pelizzola, M., Dowen, R.H., Hawkins, R.D., Hon, G., Tonti-Filippini, J., Nery, J.R., Lee, L., Ye, Z., Ngo, Q.M., Edsall, L., Antosiewicz-Bourget, J., Stewart, R., Ruotti, V., Millar, A.H., Thomson, J.A., Ren, B., Ecker, J.R., 2009a. Human DNA methylomes at base resolution show widespread epigenomic differences. Nature 462, 315–322.
- Lo, S.C., Ravaldi, C., Cabras, P.L., Faravelli, C., Ricca, V., 2008. Stress, hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis and eating disorders. Neuropsychobiology 57, 95–115.
- Luquet, S., Magnan, C., 2009. The central nervous system at the core of the regulation of energy homeostasis. Front Biosci. (Schol. Ed) 1, 448–465.
- Lussana, F., Painter, R.C., Ocke, M.C., Buller, H.R., Bossuyt, P.M., Roseboom, T.J., 2008. Prenatal exposure to the Dutch famine is associated with a preference for fatty foods and a more atherogenic lipid profile. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 88, 1648–1652.
- MacLennan, N.K., James, S.J., Melnyk, S., Piroozi, A., Jernigan, S., Hsu, J.L., Janke, S.M., Pham, T.D., Lane, R.H., 2004. Uteroplacental insufficiency alters DNA methylation, one-carbon metabolism, and histone acetylation in IUGR rats. Physiol. Genomics 18. 43–50.
- Maffei, M., Halaas, J., Ravussin, E., Pratley, R.E., Lee, G.H., Zhang, Y., Fei, H., Kim, S., Lallone, R., Ranganathan, S., 1995. Leptin levels in human and rodent: measurement of plasma leptin and ob RNA in obese and weight-reduced subjects. Nat. Med. 1, 1155–1161.
- Mariman, E.C., 2008. Epigenetic manifestations in diet-related disorders. J. Nutrigenet. Nutrigenomics 1, 232–239.
- Mazzeo, S.E., Bulik, C.M., 2009. Environmental and genetic risk factors for eating disorders: what the clinician needs to know. Child Adolesc. Psychiatr. Clin. N. Am. 18. 67–82.
- McMillen, I.C., Robinson, J.S., 2005. Developmental origins of the metabolic syndrome: prediction, plasticity, and programming. Physiol. Rev. 85, 571–
- Mercader, J.M., Ribases, M., Gratacos, M., Gonzalez, J.R., Bayes, M., de, C.R., Badia, A., Fernandez-Aranda, F., Estivill, X., 2007. Altered brain-derived neurotrophic factor blood levels and gene variability are associated with anorexia and bulimia. Genes Brain Behav. 6, 706–716.
- Micali, N., Treasure, J., Simonoff, E., 2007a. Eating disorders symptoms in pregnancy: a longitudinal study of women with recent and past eating disorders and obesity. J. Psychosom. Res. 63, 297–303.
- Micali, N., Simonoff, E., Treasure, J., 2007b. Risk of major adverse perinatal outcomes in women with eating disorders. Br. J. Psychiatry 190, 255–259.
- Mill, J., Petronis, A., 2007. Molecular studies of major depressive disorder: the epigenetic perspective. Mol. Psychiatry 12, 799–814.
- Mill, J., Petronis, A., 2008. Pre- and peri-natal environmental risks for attentiondeficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): the potential role of epigenetic processes in mediating susceptibility. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry.
- Monteleone, P., Maj, M., 2008. Genetic susceptibility to eating disorders: associated polymorphisms and pharmacogenetic suggestions. Pharmacogenomics 9, 1487–1520.
- Morton, G.J., 2007. Hypothalamic leptin regulation of energy homeostasis and glucose metabolism. J. Physiol. 583, 437–443.
- Muschler, M.A., Hillemacher, T., Kraus, C., Kornhuber, J., Bleich, S., Frieling, H., 2010. DNA methylation of the POMC gene promoter is associated with craving in alcohol dependence. J. Neural Transm. 117, 513–519.
- Nakazato, M., Tchanturia, K., Schmidt, U., Campbell, I.C., Treasure, J., Collier, D.A., Hashimoto, K., Iyo, M., 2009. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and setshifting in currently ill and recovered anorexia nervosa (AN) patients. Psychol. Med. 39, 1029–1035.
- Neugebauer, R., Hoek, H.W., Susser, E., 1999. Prenatal exposure to wartime famine and development of antisocial personality disorder in early adulthood. JAMA 282, 455–462.
- Ngai, E.S., Lee, S., Lee, A.M., 2000. The variability of phenomenology in anorexia nervosa. Acta Psychiatr. Scand. 102, 314–317.
- Norberg, M.M., Krystal, J.H., Tolin, D.F., 2008. A meta-analysis of D-cycloserine and the facilitation of fear extinction and exposure therapy. Biol. Psychiatry 63, 1118–1126.

- Nott, A., Watson, P.M., Robinson, J.D., Crepaldi, L., Riccio, A., 2008. S-Nitrosylation of histone deacetylase 2 induces chromatin remodelling in neurons. Nature 455, 411–415
- Painter, R.C., Osmond, C., Gluckman, P., Hanson, M., Phillips, D.I., Roseboom, T.J., 2008a. Transgenerational effects of prenatal exposure to the Dutch famine on neonatal adiposity and health in later life. BJOG 115, 1243–1249.
- Painter, R.C., Westendorp, R.G., de Sr., R., Osmond, C., Barker, D.J., Roseboom, T.J., 2008b. Increased reproductive success of women after prenatal undernutrition. Hum. Reprod..
- Pan, W., Hsuchou, H., Tu, H., Kastin, A.J., 2008. Developmental changes of leptin receptors in cerebral microvessels: unexpected relation to leptin transport. Endocrinology 149, 877–885.
- Pavlova, B., Uher, R., Dragomirecka, E., Papezova, H., 2010. Trends in hospital admissions for eating disorders in a country undergoing a socio-cultural transition, the Czech Republic 1981-2005. Soc. Psychiatry Psychiatr. Epidemiol. 45, 541–550
- Pembrey, M.E., Bygren, L.O., Kaati, G., Edvinsson, S., Northstone, K., Sjostrom, M., Golding, J., 2006. Sex-specific, male-line transgenerational responses in humans. Eur. J. Hum. Genet. 14, 159–166.
- Petronis, A., 2010. Epigenetics as a unifying principle in the aetiology of complex traits and diseases. Nature 465, 721–727.
- Phillip, M., Werner, H., Palese, T., Kowarski, A.A., Stannard, B., Bach, L.A., LeRoith, D., Roberts Jr., C.T., 1994. Differential accumulation of insulin-like growth factor-I in kidneys of pre- and postpubertal streptozotocin-diabetic rats. J. Mol. Endocrinol. 12, 215–224.
- Phillips, D.I., 2006. External influences on the fetus and their long-term consequences. Lupus 15, 794–800.
- Phillips, D.I., 2007. Programming of the stress response: a fundamental mechanism underlying the long-term effects of the fetal environment? J. Intern. Med. 261, 453–460.
- Pike, K.M., Hilbert, A., Wilfley, D.E., Fairburn, C.G., Dohm, F.A., Walsh, B.T., Striegel-Moore, R., 2008. Toward an understanding of risk factors for anorexia nervosa: a case-control study. Psychol. Med. 38, 1443–1453.
- Pirnik, Z., Maixnerova, J., Matyskova, R., Koutova, D., Zelezna, B., Maletinska, L., Kiss, A., 2010. Effect of anorexinergic peptides, cholecystokinin (CCK) and cocaine and amphetamine regulated transcript (CART) peptide, on the activity of neurons in hypothalamic structures of C57Bl/6 mice involved in the food intake regulation. Peptides 31, 139–144.
- Raevuori, A., Hoek, H.W., Susser, E., Kaprio, J., Rissanen, A., Keski-Rahkonen, A., 2009. Epidemiology of anorexia nervosa in men: a nationwide study of Finnish twins. PLoS ONE 4. e4402.
- Raevuori, A., Kaprio, J., Hoek, H.W., Sihvola, E., Rissanen, A., Keski-Rahkonen, A., 2008. Anorexia and bulimia nervosa in same-sex and opposite-sex twins: lack of association with twin type in a nationwide study of Finnish twins. Am. J. Psychiatry 165, 1604–1610.
- Rakyan, V.K., Blewitt, M.E., Druker, R., Preis, J.I., Whitelaw, E., 2002. Metastable epialleles in mammals. Trends Genet. 18. 348–351.
- Raney, T.J., Thornton, L.M., Berrettini, W., Brandt, H., Crawford, S., Fichter, M.M., Halmi, K.A., Johnson, C., Kaplan, A.S., LaVia, M., Mitchell, J., Rotondo, A., Strober, M., Woodside, D.B., Kaye, W.H., Bulik, C.M., 2008. Influence of overanxious disorder of childhood on the expression of anorexia nervosa. Int. J. Eat. Disord. 41, 326–332
- Rankinen, T., Zuberi, A., Chagnon, Y.C., Weisnagel, S.J., Argyropoulos, G., Walts, B., Perusse, L., Bouchard, C., 2006. The human obesity gene map: the 2005 update. Obesity (Silver Spring) 14, 529–644.
- Ravelli, A.C., Bleker, O.P., Roseboom, T.J., van Montfrans, G.A., Osmond, C., Barker, D.J., 2005. Cardiovascular disease in survivors of the Dutch famine. Nestle. Nutr. Workshop Ser. Pediatr. Program. 55, 183–191.
- Regnault, N., Botton, J., Forhan, A., Hankard, R., Thiebaugeorges, O., Hillier, T.A., Kaminski, M., Heude, B., Charles, M.A., 2010. Determinants of early ponderal and statural growth in full-term infants in the EDEN mother-child cohort study. Am. I. Clin. Nutr..
- Reichenberg, A., Mill, J., MacCabe, J.H., 2009. Epigenetics, genomic mutations and cognitive function. Cogn. Neuropsychiatry 14, 377–390.
- Reid, I.R., 2010. Fat and bone. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 503, 20-27.
- Reynolds, R.M., Godfrey, K.M., Barker, M., Osmond, C., Phillips, D.I., 2007. Stress responsiveness in adult life: influence of mother's diet in late pregnancy. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 92, 2208–2210.
- Richards, E.J., 2006. Inherited epigenetic variation—revisiting soft inheritance. Nat. Rev. Genet. 7. 395–401.
- Roberts, C., Troop, N., Connan, F., Treasure, J., Campbell, I.C., 2007. The effects of stress on body weight: biological and psychological predictors of change in BMI. Obesity (Silver Spring) 15, 3045–3055.
- Roozendaal, B., Hernandez, A., Cabrera, S.M., Hagewoud, R., Malvaez, M., Stefanko, D.P., Haettig, J., Wood, M.A., 2010. Membrane-associated glucocorticoid activity is necessary for modulation of long-term memory via chromatin modification. J. Neurosci. 30, 5037–5046.
- Roseboom, T.J., Van Der Meulen, J.H., van Montfrans, G.A., Ravelli, A.C., Osmond, C., Barker, D.J., Bleker, O.P., 2001. Maternal nutrition during gestation and blood pressure in later life. J. Hypertens. 19, 29–34.
- Roth, T.L., Sweatt, J.D., 2009. Regulation of chromatin structure in memory formation. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 19, 336–342.
- Russell, G., 1979. Bulimia nervosa: an ominous variant of anorexia nervosa. Psychol. Med. 9, 429–448.
- Saluz, H.P., Jiricny, J., Jost, J.P., 1986. Genomic sequencing reveals a positive correlation between the kinetics of strand-specific DNA demethylation of the

- overlapping estradiol/glucocorticoid-receptor binding sites and the rate of avian vitellogenin mRNA synthesis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 83, 7167–7171.
- Schiller, D., Monfils, M.H., Raio, C.M., Johnson, D.C., Ledoux, J.E., Phelps, E.A., 2010. Preventing the return of fear in humans using reconsolidation update mechanisms. Nature 463, 49–53.
- Schmidt, L.S., Schuz, J., Lahteenmaki, P., Trager, C., Stokland, T., Gustafson, G., Hjal-grim, L., Sehested, A., Johansen, C., Schmiegelow, K., 2010. Fetal growth, preterm birth, neonatal stress and risk for CNS tumors in children: a Nordic populationand register-based case-control study. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 19, 1042–1052.
- Schmidt, U., Evans, K., Tiller, J., Treasure, J., 1995. Puberty, sexual milestones and abuse: how are they related in eating disorder patients? Psychol. Med. 25, 413–417
- Schmidt, U., Tiller, J., Blanchard, M., Andrews, B., Treasure, J., 1997. Is there a specific trauma precipitating anorexia nervosa? Psychol. Med. 27, 523–530.
- Scuteri, A., Sanna, S., Chen, W.M., Uda, M., Albai, G., Strait, J., Najjar, S., Nagaraja, R., Orru, M., Usala, G., Dei, M., Lai, S., Maschio, A., Busonero, F., Mulas, A., Ehret, G.B., Fink, A.A., Weder, A.B., Cooper, R.S., Galan, P., Chakravarti, A., Schlessinger, D., Cao, A., Lakatta, E., Abecasis, G.R., 2007. Genome-wide association scan shows genetic variants in the FTO gene are associated with obesity-related traits. PLoS Genet. 3, e115.
- Seckl, J.R., 2008. Glucocorticoids, developmental 'programming' and the risk of affective dysfunction. Prog. Brain Res. 167, 17–34.
- Seckl, J.R., Holmes, M.C., 2007. Mechanisms of disease: glucocorticoids, their placental metabolism and fetal 'programming' of adult pathophysiology. Nat. Clin. Pract. Endocrinol. Metab. 3, 479–488.
- Siega-Riz, A.M., Haugen, M., Meltzer, H.M., Von, H.A., Hamer, R., Torgersen, L., Knopf-Berg, C., Reichborn-Kjennerud, T., Bulik, C.M., 2008. Nutrient and food group intakes of women with and without bulimia nervosa and binge eating disorder during pregnancy. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 87, 1346–1355.
- Smith, P.M., Ferguson, A.V., 2008. Neurophysiology of hunger and satiety. Dev. Disabil. Res. Rev. 14, 96–104.
- Soares, R.M., Nunes, M.A., Schmidt, M.I., Giacomello, A., Manzolli, P., Camey, S., Buss, C., Drehmer, M., Melere, C., Hoffman, J., Ozcariz, S., Manenti, C.N., Pinheiro, A.P., Duncan, B.B., 2008. Inappropriate eating behaviors during pregnancy: prevalence and associated factors among pregnant women attending primary care in southern Brazil. Int. J. Eat. Disord..
- Sollid, C.P., Wisborg, K., Hjort, J., Secher, N.J., 2004. Eating disorder that was diagnosed before pregnancy and pregnancy outcome. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 190, 206–210.
- Souren, N.Y., Paulussen, A.D., Steyls, A., Loos, R.J., Stassen, A.P., Gielen, M., Smeets, H.J., Beunen, G., Fagard, R., Derom, C., Vlietinck, R., Geraedts, J.P., Zeegers, M.P., 2008. Common SNPs in LEP and LEPR associated with birth weight and type 2 diabetes-related metabolic risk factors in twins. Int. J. Obes. (Lond) 32, 1233–1239.
- Spindler, A., Milos, G., 2007. Links between eating disorder symptom severity and psychiatric comorbidity. Eat. Behav. 8, 364–373.
- Spitzer, R.L., Williams, J.B., Gibbon, M., First, M.B., 1992. The Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-III-R (SCID). I: History, rationale, and description. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 49, 624–629.
- Spitzer, R.L., Yanovski, S., Wadden, T., Wing, R., Marcus, M.D., Stunkard, A., Devlin, M., Mitchell, J., Hasin, D., Horne, R.L., 1993. Binge eating disorder: its further validation in a multisite study. Int. J. Eat. Disord. 13, 137–153.
 Stapleton, H., Fielder, A., Kirkham, M., 2008. Breast or bottle? Eating disordered
- Stapleton, H., Fielder, A., Kirkham, M., 2008. Breast or bottle? Eating disordered childbearing women and infant-feeding decisions. Matern. Child Nutr. 4, 106– 120.
- Stein, A.D., Zybert, P.A., van der Pal-de Bruin, Lumey, L.H., 2006. Exposure to famine during gestation, size at birth, and blood pressure at age 59 y: evidence from the Dutch Famine. Eur. J. Epidemiol. 21, 759–765.
- Stewart, D.E., Robinson, E., Goldbloom, D.S., Wright, C., 1990. Infertility and eating disorders. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 163, 1196–1199.
- Stice, E., 2002. Risk and maintenance factors for eating pathology: a meta-analytic review. Psychol. Bull. 128, 825–848.
- Stice, E., Presnell, K., Shaw, H., Rohde, P., 2005. Psychological and behavioral risk factors for obesity onset in adolescent girls: a prospective study. J. Consult Clin. Psychol. 73. 195–202.
- Stice, E., Shaw, H.E., 2002. Role of body dissatisfaction in the onset and maintenance of eating pathology: a synthesis of research findings. J. Psychosom. Res. 53, 985–993.
- Stoger, R., 2006. In vivo methylation patterns of the leptin promoter in human and mouse. Epigenetics 1, 155–162.
- Stoger, R., 2008. The thrifty epigenotype: an acquired and heritable predisposition for obesity and diabetes? Bioessays 30, 156–166.
- Striegel-Moore, R.H., Bulik, C.M., 2007. Risk factors for eating disorders. Am. Psychol. 62, 181–198.
- Striegel-Moore, R.H., Fairburn, C.G., Wilfley, D.E., Pike, K.M., Dohm, F.A., Kraemer, H.C., 2005. Toward an understanding of risk factors for binge-eating disorder in black and white women: a community-based case-control study. Psychol. Med. 35, 907–917.
- Strober, M., 2004. Pathologic fear conditioning and anorexia nervosa: on the search for novel paradigms. Int. J. Eat. Disord. 35, 504–508.
- Strober, M., Freeman, R., Lampert, C., Diamond, J., 2007. The association of anxiety disorders and obsessive compulsive personality disorder with anorexia nervosa: evidence from a family study with discussion of nosological and neurodevelopmental implications. Int. J. Eat. Disord. 40 (Suppl.), S46–S51.
- Stuffrein-Roberts, S., Joyce, P.R., Kennedy, M.A., 2008. Role of epigenetics in mental disorders. Aust. N. Z. J. Psychiatry 42, 97–107.

- Sugden, C., 2006. One-carbon metabolism in psychiatric illness. Nutr. Res. Rev. 19, 117–136.
- Swann, R.A., Von, H.A., Torgersen, L., Gendall, K., Reichborn-Kjennerud, T., Bulik, C.M., 2009. Attitudes toward weight gain during pregnancy: results from the Norwegian mother and child cohort study (MoBa). Int. J. Eat. Disord. 42, 394–401
- Swinbourne, J.M., Touyz, S.W., 2007. The co-morbidity of eating disorders and anxiety disorders: a review. Eur. Eat. Disord. Rev. 15, 253–274.
- Talge, N.M., Neal, C., Glover, V., 2007. Antenatal maternal stress and long-term effects on child neurodevelopment: how and why? J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 48, 245–261.
- Tchanturia, K., Campbell, I.C., Morris, R., Treasure, J., 2005. Neuropsychological studies in anorexia nervosa. Int. J. Eat. Disord. 37 (Suppl.), S72–S76.
- Tchanturia, K., Liao, P.C., Uher, R., Lawrence, N., Treasure, J., Campbell, I.C., 2007. An investigation of decision making in anorexia nervosa using the lowa Gambling Task and skin conductance measurements. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 13, 635–641
- Tsankova, N., Renthal, W., Kumar, A., Nestler, E.J., 2007. Epigenetic regulation in psychiatric disorders. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 8, 355–367.
- Tsankova, N.M., Berton, O., Renthal, W., Kumar, A., Neve, R.L., Nestler, E.J., 2006. Sustained hippocampal chromatin regulation in a mouse model of depression and antidepressant action. Nat. Neurosci. 9, 519–525.
- Uher, R., 2009. The role of genetic variation in the causation of mental illness: an evolution-informed framework. Mol. Psychiatry 14, 1072–1082.
- Uher, R., Brammer, M.J., Murphy, T., Campbell, I.C., Ng, V.W., Williams, S.C., Treasure, J., 2003. Recovery and chronicity in anorexia nervosa: brain activity associated with differential outcomes. Biol. Psychiatry 54, 934–942.
- Van den, E.F., Claudino, A.M., Mogg, A., Horrell, L., Stahl, D., Ribeiro, W., Uher, R., Campbell, I.C., Schmidt, U., 2010. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation reduces cue-induced food craving in bulimic disorders. Biol. Psychiatry 67, 793–795.
- Vasudevan, C., Renfrew, M., McGuire, W., 2010. Fetal and perinatal consequences of maternal obesity. Arch. Dis. Child Fetal Neonatal Ed..
- Vieau, D., Sebaai, N., Leonhardt, M., Dutriez-Casteloot, I., Molendi-Coste, O., Laborie, C., Breton, C., Deloof, S., Lesage, J., 2007. HPA axis programming by maternal undernutrition in the male rat offspring. Psychoneuroendocrinology 32 (Suppl. 1), S16–S20.
- Volkow, N.D., Wise, R.A., 2005. How can drug addiction help us understand obesity? Nat. Neurosci. 8, 555–560.
- Ward, V.B., 2008. Eating disorders in pregnancy. BMJ 336, 93-96.
- Wardle, J., Carnell, S., Haworth, C.M., Plomin, R., 2008. Evidence for a strong genetic influence on childhood adiposity despite the force of the obesogenic environment. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 87, 398–404.
- Waterland, R.A., 2003. Do maternal methyl supplements in mice affect DNA methylation of offspring? J. Nutr. 133, 238.

- Waterland, R.A., Jirtle, R.L., 2004. Early nutrition, epigenetic changes at transposons and imprinted genes, and enhanced susceptibility to adult chronic diseases. Nutrition 20, 63–68.
- Waterland, R.A., Michels, K.B., 2007. Epigenetic epidemiology of the developmental origins hypothesis. Annu. Rev. Nutr. 27, 363–388.
- Weaver, I.C., Cervoni, N., Champagne, F.A., D'Alessio, A.C., Sharma, S., Seckl, J.R., Dymov, S., Szyf, M., Meaney, M.J., 2004. Epigenetic programming by maternal behavior. Nat. Neurosci. 7, 847–854.
- Weaver, I.C., Champagne, F.A., Brown, S.E., Dymov, S., Sharma, S., Meaney, M.J., Szyf, M., 2005. Reversal of maternal programming of stress responses in adult off-spring through methyl supplementation: altering epigenetic marking later in life. J. Neurosci. 25, 11045–11054.
- Weinstock, M., Matlina, E., Maor, G.I., Rosen, H., McEwen, B.S., 1992. Prenatal stress selectively alters the reactivity of the hypothalamic-pituitary adrenal system in the female rat. Brain Res. 595, 195–200.
- Weksberg, R., Shuman, C., Caluseriu, O., Smith, A.C., Fei, Y.L., Nishikawa, J., Stockley, T.L., Best, L., Chitayat, D., Olney, A., Ives, E., Schneider, A., Bestor, T.H., Li, M., Sadowski, P., Squire, J., 2002. Discordant KCNQ1OT1 imprinting in sets of monozygotic twins discordant for Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome. Hum. Mol. Genet. 11, 1317–1325.
- Wentz, E., Gillberg, I.C., Anckarsater, H., Gillberg, C., Rastam, M., 2009. Adolescentonset anorexia nervosa: 18-year outcome. Br. J. Psychiatry 194, 168–174.
- Widdowson, E.M., McCance, R.A., 1963. The effect of finite periods of undernutrition at different ages on the composition and subsequent development of the rat. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 158, 329–342.
- Wilkinson, L.S., Davies, W., Isles, A.R., 2007. Genomic imprinting effects on brain development and function. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 8, 832–843.
- Wonderlich, S.A., Crosby, R.D., Mitchell, J.E., Engel, S.G., 2007. Testing the validity of eating disorder diagnoses. Int. J. Eat. Disord. 40 (Suppl.), S40–S45.
- Wren, A.M., 2008. Gut and hormones and obesity. Front. Horm. Res. 36, 165–181.
- Wust, S., Entringer, S., Federenko, I.S., Schlotz, W., Hellhammer, D.H., 2005. Birth weight is associated with salivary cortisol responses to psychosocial stress in adult life. Psychoneuroendocrinology 30, 591–598.
- Yang, W., Kelly, T., He, J., 2007. Genetic epidemiology of obesity. Epidemiol. Rev. 29, 49–61
- Yokomori, N., Moore, R., Negishi, M., 1995. Sexually dimorphic DNA demethylation in the promoter of the Slp (sex-limited protein) gene in mouse liver. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 92, 1302–1306.
- Zhang, F., Chen, Y., Heiman, M., Dimarchi, R., 2005. Leptin: structure, function and biology. Vitam. Horm. 71, 345–372.
- Zhang, Y., Proenca, R., Maffei, M., Barone, M., Leopold, L., Friedman, J.M., 1994. Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. Nature 372, 425–432.
- Zilberman, D., 2008. The evolving functions of DNA methylation. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 11, 554–559.